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ATTORNEY disciplinary proceeding. Attorney's |icense

suspended.

11 PER CURI AM Attorney Paul W Hunphrey appeals a
report and recomendation filed by Referee Russell Hanson,
recoomending a public reprimand based on the referee's
conclusion that Attorney Hunphrey commtted professional
m sconduct in his handling of a crimnal prosecution. For the
reasons stated herein, we conclude that Attorney Hunphrey's

m sconduct warrants a 30-day suspension of his license to
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practice law in Wsconsin along with the inposition of the ful
costs of this proceedi ng.

12 Attorney Hunphrey was admtted to practice law in
Wsconsin in 1989. He has no prior attorney disciplinary
hi story before this court.

13 On Novenber 17, 2006, the O fice of Lawer Regulation
(OLR) filed a conplaint against Attorney Hunphrey alleging three
counts of professional msconduct relating to the crimnal
prosecuti on of Adam Rai sbeck.

14 This disciplinary matter has been pending a long tine
and the parties, the referee, and the public are entitled to
know why. Def ense counsel in the Raisbeck matter, Attorney
Joseph Sommers, was al so charged with professional msconduct in
connection wth that case. Each disciplinary case was
consi dered separately on its own record, briefs, and argunents.
However, both attorneys asserted the <conduct of the other
affected their own actions. We deened it prudent to hold this
case in abeyance until the Sommers matter was ready for a
deci si on. W did not anticipate the procedural conplications
that would develop in the Sommers case or the difficulty we
would face in determning the appropriate sanction for each
| awyer's respective m sconduct.? These are difficult cases
stemming from a difficult prosecution, but our decision today

refl ects nost careful consideration

! The disciplinary proceeding against Attorney Sommers i
being resolved in a separate opinion also issued today. See In
re Disciplinary Proceedi ngs Against Joseph L. Sommers, 2012 W
33 (Case No. 2006AP2851-D).

S
n
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15 The factual background relating to the underlying
crimnal prosecution will be discussed only insofar as it is
relevant to this particular disciplinary proceeding. On
Septenber 1, 2001, Adam Rai sbeck, then age 17, was involved in a
one-car rollover accident that occurred in the Town of Medina
One passenger was Kkilled and another passenger was injured.
Dane County sheriff's deputies investigating the accident
conducted an accident reconstruction, photographed the scene,
and interviewed W tnesses.

16 In Decenber 2001 Rai sbeck was charged with one count
of hom cide by negligent operation of a notor vehicle and one
m sdeneanor charge in connection with the injuries sustained by
the second passenger. Attorney Hunphrey, who is an assistant
district attorney with the Dane County District Attorney's
office, was assigned to prosecute the case. Rai sbeck retained
Attorney Joseph Sommers as his defense counsel. Rai sbeck was
| ater acquitted.

17 At two prelimnary hearings on January 28, 2002, and
February 15, 2002, Attorney Somrers sought to formally subpoena
the photographs of the accident scene. The subpoena was
guashed, as premature, because it is the policy of the district
attorney's office to provide such information only after
arrai gnment . At the February 15, 2002 prelimnary hearing,
Attorney Hunphrey argued that the evidence indicated Raisbeck
was driving about 88 mles per hour, sone 33 mles per hour over

the posted speed |imt. The defense challenged that assunption
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citing discrepancies in the physical evidence. Probabl e cause
was found and Rai sbeck was bound over for trial.

18 On or about February 11, 2002, Attorney Hunphrey sent
his set of 8 by 10 inch accident scene photographs to an
acci dent reconstruction speci al i st, Robert Krenz, for
pr of essi onal anal ysis. M. Krenz apparently kept this set of
pi ctures until about April 24, 2002.

19 On March 12, 2002, Raisbeck was formally arraigned.
Attorney Somrers then filed a five-page discovery denand
requesting, anong other itenms, "copies of all books, papers,
docunents, photographs, and tangible objects related to this
case" and "a witten sumary of all oral statenents of the
defendant which the State plans to use in the course of the
trial and the nanes of wtnesses to the defendant's oral
statenents. "

10 On March 13, 2002, Attorney Hunphrey sent 84 pages of
di scovery nmaterials to Sommers in response to the discovery
request. These materials did not include the accident scene
phot ogr aphs. Sommers had asserted he told Attorney Hunphrey he
wanted to see these photographs nunerous tines. Att or ney
Hunphrey has nmaintained that these requests were informal, such
as while walking down the hall at the courthouse, and that he
did not renenber them or did not consider them official
requests. Attorney Hunphrey has asserted that Sommers stated he

specifically wanted to see Attorney Hunphrey's working set of

photos, as opposed to a general set of photographs. At t or ney
Hunphrey asserts the wusual procedure for defense counsel to

4
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obtain a set of crine scene photographs is for the defense
attorney to wite a letter to the district attorney requesting
aut hori zation for the sheriff's departnent, as the custodi an of
the negatives, to release a set of photographs to the defense.
Attorney Hunphrey asserts that Sommers was aware of this
pr ocedure.

11 On or about April 25, 2002, Attorney Hunphrey wote a
letter to Sommers regarding the accident scene photographs. In
that letter he indicated that if Somrers would stipulate to
their foundation, Attorney Hunphrey could give him a set of
phot ogr aphs. He advised Sommers that, alternatively, Somrers
could obtain copies of the photographs directly from the Dane
County Sheriff's Departnent. Sommers asserted this letter was
sent one day after a verbal exchange where Attorney Hunphrey
prom sed Sommers that Sommers could see Attorney Hunphrey's set
of phot ographs, and then apparently told Sommers that the photos
were still with the accident reconstruction expert.

112 On May 2, 2002, Attorney Hunphrey wote a letter to
Sommer s provi di ng specific i nformation and specific
aut horization for Somers to obtain accident phot ogr aphs
directly fromthe Dane County Sheriff's Departnent.

113 On May 10, 2002, Sommers wote to the Dane County
Sheriff's records departnent formally requesting a set of
acci dent scene photographs and including the requisite fee.

1214 On the norning of the final pretrial conference on
May 21, 2002, Sonmers asked Attorney Hunphrey why he had not yet
recei ved the photographs. Sommers said that his defense expert

5
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needed the photographs to conduct the defense's own accident
reconstruction. Sommers apparently received his set of 5 by 7
inch photographs Jlater that same day. The size of the
phot ographs requested by Sommers is rel evant because the parties
|ater realized that certain relevant markings were visible on
the 8 by 10 inch photographs but were not visible on the smaller
5 by 7 inch photographs. There is no indication either attorney
knew in advance that the size of the photograph would affect
whet her the markings were visible on the phot ographs.

115 On May 22, 2002, Attorney Hunphrey filed a notion to
conpel discovery of the defense expert's report. This notion
i ncluded Attorney Hunphrey's affidavit which stated in paragraph
8: "[Qver tw nonths ago, the State provided over 84 pages of

di scovery materials, nade the photographs available to the

def endant, and provided the scale diagram" (Enphasis added.)

116 On May 31, 2002, Sommers wote to the presiding judge
in the Raisbeck matter, the Honorable Paul Hi gginbotham and
asserted that paragraph 8 of the Hunphrey affidavit was "a bal d-
faced lie." Sommers' letter provided a sunmmary of his
communi cations wth Attorney Hunphrey regarding his efforts to
obtain the photographs. The bottom line, according to Sommers,
was that Attorney Hunphrey knew Sommers had not received copies
of the photographs until My 21, 2002.

17 At the June 7, 2002, hearing on the notion to conpel
di scovery, Attorney Hunphrey stated on the record that the
photos "were made available to M. Somers way back in Mrch
actual ly." The trial court asked Attorney Hunphrey how he

6
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responded to Sommers' assertion that Somrers did not truly have
access to the photos in March. Attorney Hunphrey replied: "He
had access to the photographs back in April, on April 25 if you
want to conme in and look at them or if he wanted to stipulate
to chain, he could have taken them out of ny office at any
tinme." Attorney Hunphrey suggested that Sommers was planning a
"trial by anmbush" by failing to tinely produce an expert report.

118 Sommers vehenently maintained that Attorney Hunphrey
did not nmake the photographs available to him stating: "That is
just a bald-face lie. He submtted a false affidavit. Your
Honor, that is a big thing."

119 Attorney Hunphrey's position has been that Somers
could have submtted a witten request for authorization to see
the accident scene photographs at any tine after Raisbeck's
arrai gnment, but that he opted not to do so until My 10, 2002.
Attorney Hunphrey maintains Sommers was fully aware of the
typical protocol for obtaining accident scene photos. Att or ney
Hunphrey includes in his submssions a formletter that is often
used by defense counsel to nmake such requests.

20 In the context of the hearing on the notion to conpel,
Judge Hi ggi nbot ham stated to Attorney Hunphrey: "I think you did
fabricate in your affidavit when you stated that these photos
were made available to M. Somrers way back when. . . . [T]hen
to conme in here and to claim anbush by M. Sommers is totally
di singenuous. It's not true at all."

121 Attorney Hunphrey |ater wote to Judge Hi ggi nbotham in
an effort to clarify his position, describing paragraph 8 of the

7
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chal l enged affidavit as "sloppy draftsmanship."” He mai ntai ned,
however, that the typical procedure in such cases is for defense
counsel to send a letter to the prosecutor requesting
authorization to obtain the photographs from the sheriff's
depart nent.

22 Sommers noved to dismss the crimnal prosecution on
the ground of prosecutorial m sconduct. At the hearing on this
nmotion, Judge Higginbotham comented, wth respect to the
affidavit: "I specifically find it has nothing to do with proper
dr af t smanshi p. That you [Attorney Hunphrey] clearly msled the
court on that issue."

123 However, in this di sci plinary appeal , At t or ney
Hunmphrey clains that the referee's report fails to note the
district attorney l|ater asked the trial court to rescind this
statenent. He contends that the trial court agreed.?

124 In the first count of the disciplinary conplaint the
OLR alleges that, by averring in an affidavit that he had nade

the photographs available "over two nonths ago, At t or ney

Hunphrey engaged in conduct involving dishonesty, deceit, or

2 There is no evidence in the record before us as to whet her
the circuit court revisited its findings to conclude that
Attorney Hunphrey's statenents were exaggerations rather than
i ntentional msrepresentations, and we conclude that this would
not alter our ultimte conclusion here.
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m srepresentation in violation of former SCR 20:8.4(c)® (Count
One) .

25 The remaining counts in the OLR disciplinary conplaint
also relate to the trial preparations in the Raisbeck matter.
On June 12, 2002, Attorney Hunphrey gave Somers a synopsis of
his expert's accident reconstruction report. At sone date prior
to August 15, 2002, Attorney Hunphrey and his expert net to
di scuss this report. On August 15, 2002, Attorney Hunphrey and
the expert apparently exchanged e-mails addressing a sunmary of
the expert's anticipated trial testinony.

126 Meanwhil e, Sommers and his defense expert reviewed the
5 by 7 inch photographs he received from the sheriff's
depart nent. None of these photographs showed a cl ose-up of the
tire markings. Somrers argued that w thout such a close-up view
of the tire markings it was inpossible to evaluate the State's
assertion that the tire markings were "critical speed scuffs”
rather than "brake-induced skid marks." Agai n, the defense

considered the tire mrkings highly relevant evidence for

3 Effective July 1, 2007, substantial changes were nade to
the Wsconsin Suprene Court Rules of Professional Conduct for
Attorneys, SCR Chapter 20. See S. Q. Oder 04-07, 2007 W 4,
293 Ws. 2d xv, 726 NW2d C.R45 (eff. July 1, 2007); and
S. C. O der 06- 04, 2007 W 48, 297 Ws. 2d xv, 730
NW2d &G.R-29 (eff. July 1, 2007). Because the conduct
underlying this case arose prior to July 1, 2007, unless
otherwise indicated, all references to the Chapter 20 of the
W sconsin Suprene Court Rules will be to those in effect prior
to July 1, 2007.

SCR 20:8.4(c) stated it is professional msconduct for a
| awyer to "engage in conduct involving dishonesty, fraud, deceit
or msrepresentation; . . . ."
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assessing the speed of Raisbeck's vehicle when taking the curve
in the road before the accident occurred.

127 Sommers argued the State expert's opinion that the
tire markings were "speed scuffs" was vital to the State
expert's conclusion that Raisbeck was driving 88 mles per hour
at the tinme of the accident. Sommers did not see markings on
his set of photographs and thus noved to dismss the prosecution
on the ground that the State had failed to preserve critical
tire marking evidence.

128 At the August 22, 2002 hearing on this notion Somers
subpoenaed sheriff's deputies together with their copies of the
acci dent scene photographs. Deputy Sewell appeared at the
heari ng. He testified that he had brought his set of accident
scene photographs to court for a previous court hearing, but no

| onger had the photographs in his possession and did not know

where they were. A discussion anong counsel and the court
ensued. The court asked Attorney Hunphrey if he had the
phot ogr aphs. Attorney Hunphrey's response to the court's

inquiry fornms the basis for the second disciplinary count

al | eged against him Attorney Hunphrey responded: "I have two
phot os. | don't know if these are the ones he wants. They are
the photos of black marks on the roadway." Sommer s

characterized Attorney Hunphrey's response and the State's

failure to produce a full set of photographs at the hearing as

"under handed. " Judge Hi ggi nbot ham responded to Sommers that:

"Nobody has said that M. Hunphrey had [the photographs].”

However, the OLR conplaint alleges that at the tinme of this
10
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exchange, Attorney Hunphrey knew he in fact had, in his office
a conplete set of 8 by 10 inch accident scene photos but did not
disclose this fact to the trial court. Judge H ggi nbot ham asked
Attorney Hunphrey: "Now, M. Hunphrey, do you know where the
phot os are?" Attorney Hunphrey replied: "No, | do not."
Attorney Hunphrey has maintained he thought the trial court was
inquiring specifically about the Jlocation of the set of
phot ographs originally in the possession of Deputy Sewell .

29 The court ultimately used the two 8 by 10 inch photos
that Attorney Hunphrey had with himin the courtroom as well as
Sommers' 5 by 7 inch set of photographs. The notion to dism ss
was deni ed.

130 Wth respect to this exchange, the OLR conplaint
alleges that, by failing to disclose he knew where the photos
were during the August 22, 2002 hearing, Attorney Hunphrey
knowi ngly made a false statenment of material fact to a tribuna
in violation of SCR 20:3.3(a)(1),* and engaged in conduct
i nvol ving dishonesty, deceit, or msrepresentation in violation
of SCR 20:8.4(c) (Count Two).

131 The third count of the OLR conplaint involves the
timng of disclosure of a wtness statenment to Attorney Somrers.
When the sheriff's deputies first investigated the accident,
Kevin MCoy, an acquaintance of Raisbeck, told investigators

that he had seen Raisbeck's passengers the night before the

4 SCR 20:3.3(a)(1) provided that a lawer shall not
knowingly "nake a false statement of fact or Jlaw to a
tribunal; "

11
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accident but that he did not know where they went after that.
Thi s innocuous statenent was included in the discovery responses
sent to Somrers.

132 On Septenber 18, 2002, Attorney Hunphrey advised
Sommers he intended to call MCoy as a witness at trial but
noted that he did not have an address for him On Cctober 15,
2003, Attorney Hunphrey sent Sommers a wtness |ist that
i ncl uded McCoy's nane together with his address.

133 On or about OCctober 21, 2003, Attorney Hunphrey and
Detective Geiber of the Dane County Sheriff's Departnent net
with MCoy in preparation for trial. At the time of this
nmeeting, the Raisbeck trial was scheduled to commence on
Cct ober 27, 2003. Detective Geiber |ater prepared a nenorandum
dated Cctober 27, 2003, that summarized the neeting. At the
meeting, MCoy apparently stated he had spoken to Raisbeck in
the spring follow ng the accident, and that Raisbeck had said he
was feeling sad about the accident, that he admtted to MCoy it
was foggy and he was driving too fast, that he could not see the
sign, and he drove off the road. This statenment was significant
because Raisbeck, who was injured in the accident, had
previously stated he had no recollection of the accident.

134 On Cctober 23, 2003, the trial was postponed until
January 20, 2004. On  Novenber 12, 2003, Attorney Hunphrey
sought a bench warrant identifying McCoy as a material wtness
who "has already not appeared on one subpoena and is unlikely to
appear on a subpoena in the future.”™ A bench warrant directing
McCoy's arrest was issued the sanme day. On Decenber 11, 2003,

12
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Sommers wote the court asking how MCoy could be deened a
"material w tness" given his innocuous statenent on Septenber 1,
2001.

1835 On January 7, 2004, Attorney Hunphrey disclosed
McCoy's CQOctober 21, 2003 statenents to Somers via a cover
letter stating that "[wjhile it is not discoverable, | thought I
woul d send these notes [along] anyway." At the tinme this letter
was sent, trial was scheduled to commence on January 20, 2004.

136 The OLR conplaint alleges that by failing to turn over
to the defense wuntil January 7, 2004, an Cctober 21, 2003
W t ness st at enent cont ai ni ng I ncrimnating decl ar at i ons,
Attorney Hunphrey did, in pretrial procedure, fail to nmake a
reasonably diligent effort to conmply with a valid discovery
request by an opposing party in violation of SCR 20:3.4(d)°®
(Count Three).

137 Attorney Hunphrey defends the timng of his disclosure
of the w tness statenent. He clains that he initially viewed
the statenent as privileged work product because the statenent
was not excul patory, and only later realized that as a statenent
of a party defendant it should be discl osed.

138 Wth respect to the timng, he asserts that everyone
invol ved assunmed the trial wuld be delayed again because

Sommers had filed an interlocutory appeal that had stayed the

® SCR 20:3.4(d) stated a lawyer shall not "in pretrial
procedure, mnmake a frivolous discovery request or fail to nake
reasonably diligent effort to conply with a legally proper
di scovery request by an opposing party; "

13
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trial court proceeding. Moreover, the parties involved were al
aware that the defense expert was going to be unavailable in
January. Attorney Hunphrey notes that the trial did not in fact
occur until April 18, 2005, sone 15 nonths after he disclosed
the McCoy witness statement to Somrers.

139 The OLR sought summary judgnment on Count Three of the
conplaint based on the fact that in his answer, Attorney
Hunphrey admtted the facts alleged in the OLR conplaint wth
respect to Count Three. On June 25, 2007, the referee granted
the OLR s notion for summary judgnment on Count Three, stating
"[t]he respondent having admtted all factual allegations of
Count 3, it, therefore, appears that there is no genuine issue
as to any material fact."

40 Attorney Hunphrey sought reconsideration of this
ruling, enphasizing he did not admt the inferences that the OLR
wanted the trier of fact to draw from the factual allegati ons—
nanely, that he failed to disclose the witness statenent unti
13 days before trial. Moreover, he argues that the summary
judgnment ruling precluded him from presenting any affirmative
defenses to the charge.

41 The evidentiary hearing in this disciplinary matter
was conducted on July 10 and 11, 2007. The referee denied
Attorney Hunphrey's notion for reconsideration of the summary
judgment order at this hearing but permtted Attorney Hunphrey
to make an offer of proof that the Raisbeck trial did not occur

until 15 nonths after the w tness statenent was discl osed.

14
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142 On August 2, 2007, the referee issued his report and
recommendat i on. Wth respect to Count One, the referee agreed
that Attorney Hunphrey's affidavit "msled the court" and
concl uded that Attorney Hunphrey violated SCR 20:8.4(c).

143 Wth respect to Count Two, the referee was not
persuaded by Attorney Hunphrey's claim that he m sunderstood
whi ch set of accident scene photographs the court nmeant when the
court asked if Attorney Hunphrey had a set of photographs. The
referee concluded that Attorney Hunphrey know ngly made a false
st at enent of fact to a tri bunal in viol ation of
SCR 20:3.3(a)(1), and engaged in conduct involving dishonesty,
fraud, decei t, or m srepresentation in vi ol ation of
SCR 20:8.4(c).

144 Finally, wth respect to Count Three, the referee
recited the factual allegations in the conplaint and reiterated
his granting of sunmary judgnent to the OLR on this charge.

45 On appeal Attorney Hunphrey challenges the referee's
findings and conclusions and provides context for t he
allegations against him?® He explains the wusual protocol
regarding production of accident photographs, noting that

Sommers did not follow the wusual procedure of submtting a

® Oral argunment in this matter was conducted on April 10,
2008. On July 30, 2008, this court issued an order holding this
matter in abeyance wuntil further order of +the court. On

Decenber 14, 2009, Attorney Hunphrey filed a very brief notion
seeking "additional oral argunent in the matter" on the ground
that the conposition of the court had changed since the court
| ast considered the matter. The notion was held in abeyance and
i s hereby deni ed.

15
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request letter to the district attorney imediately after
arrai gnment . Attorney Hunphrey explains that Sommers had
specifically enphasized that he wanted to see Attorney
Hunphrey's copi es of the photographs, which had been sent to the
State's accident reconstruction specialist. He explains that
around April 24, 2002, Attorney Hunmphrey told Sommers he could
cone to Attorney Hunphrey's office to see the photos. At this
nmeeting he realized the expert wtness had not yet returned
them Attorney Hunphrey then wote Sommers letters on April 25,
2002, and May 2, 2002, providing details as to how Sommers could
obtain a set of photographs directly from the sheriff's
depart nent.

146 Wth respect to the affidavit formng the basis for
Count One of the conplaint, Attorney Hunphrey defends his use of
the term "available" in the affidavit where he stated that he
made the photographs "available" to Sommers sonme two nonths
prior to the date of his notion to conpel. He reiterates
Sommers could have pursued other strategies to obtain the
acci dent scene photographs directly from the sheriff's
depart nent.

147 Wth respect to Count Two, Attorney Hunphrey also
maintains that during the in-court discussions about the
| ocation of the accident scene photographs, Attorney Hunphrey
t hought they were specifically talking about the |ocation of

Deputy Sewell's mssing set of photographs because Sommers had

stated that he did not trust the district attorney's office and
that is why he subpoenaed Sewel|l and his phot ographs.
16
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148 Wth respect to Count Three, Attorney Hunphrey also
enphasi zes that the parties knew in October, when the MCoy
W tness statenent was taken, that the trial would be postponed
because the court of appeals had stayed the trial court case by
order dated Cctober 22, 2003, and Sommers had advised the court
that his expert would be unavailable in January because of a
vacati on. He notes again the trial did not in fact occur unti
15 nonths follow ng disclosure of the witness statenent.

149 W review a referee's findings of fact subject to the

clearly erroneous standard. See In re D sciplinary Proceedi ngs

Agai nst Ei senberg, 2004 W 14, {5, 269 Ws. 2d 43, 675

N.W2d 747. W review the referee's conclusions of |aw de novo.
Id. Pursuant to our obligation to supervise and regulate the
practice of law in this state, we determne the appropriate
| evel of discipline independent of the referee's recomendati on.

See In re Disciplinary Proceedings Against Wdule, 2003 W 34,

7144, 261 Ws. 2d 45, 660 N W 2d 686.

150 The referee nmade the following findings of fact wth
respect to Count One:

e It appears that tire marks were not visible on the 5 by 7
inch photographs that Sommers obtained from the sheriff's
departnment but were visible on the 8 by 10 inch photographs
At t or ney Hunphr ey gave to hi s acci dent reconstruction
speci al i st.

e The Dane County Sheriff's Departnent at various tines

stated there were 33, 45, 46, and 50 phot ographs.

17
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e |t was reasonable for Sommers to be certain he had seen
al | phot ographs.
« On May 2, 2002, Attorney Hunphrey sent a letter to

def ense counsel which stated, in part:

At your recent request for your own copies of all the
photos, | contacted the Court Oficer of the DSCO
Here's what you need to do.

e It is clear fromthe record that the court wanted to be
sure discovery had been tinely produced. Trial was then
schedul ed for | ate June.

 On May 22, 2002, Attorney Hunphrey filed an affidavit
with the court that stated in relevant part that photos had been
made "avail able" to the defense for over two nonths.

e On June 7, 2002, Judge Hi gginbotham stated to Attorney

Hunphr ey:

M. Hunphrey, |1've not been happy wth your
conduct either. | agree with M. Somers and that the
situation with [Raisbeck] should never have gone that
way. But, secondly, | think you did fabricate in your
affidavit when you stated that these photos were nade
available to M. Somers way back when. That's not
true. Even based on these letters it's clear to ne
t hat t hose phot os wer e never made actual ly
avai |l abl e.

e After being told that he had "fabricated" and was
“"totally disingenuous” Attorney Hunphrey's response to the court
was tepid at best.

151 The referee further notes that on April 7, 2003, the
court stated: "I specifically find it has nothing to do wth
proper draftsnmanship. That [Attorney Hunphrey] clearly msled

the court on that issue.” The referee adds that "any reasonabl e

18
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interpretation of the facts [shows] that for whatever reason
[ Att orney Hunphrey] deliberately msled the court.™

52 On this appeal, Attorney Hunphrey takes issue wth
several of the referee's findings of fact and the inferences
drawn therefrom For exanple, the referee comments on confusion
regardi ng the nunber of accident scene photographs. At t or ney
Hunphrey points out, however, that as of the WMy 2, 2002
hearing, there was no confusion about the nunber of accident
scene photographs. He contends the confusion over the nunber of
phot ographs did not arise until the hearing on August 22, 2002.

153 Attorney Hunphrey also <challenges the referee's
finding that Attorney Hunphrey's response to the court's
statenents about the veracity of his affidavit was "tepid."
Attorney Hunphrey responds that he consistently stated on the
record that his statenments were "true." He defends his response
in the trial <court, describing the colloquy that occurred
imredi ately after the court nade these statenents to Attorney
Hunphrey. There, the trial court strongly chastised Somrers for
interrupting himand contradicting the court. Attorney Hunphrey
asserts that given the timng and tenor of the court's remarks
to counsel, he "would have been ill-advised to have said
anything in response to Judge Hi gginbotham s statenent about
him ™" He explains that, instead, he filed a notion asking the
court to withdraw his conclusion and states the court agreed to
do so. Attorney Hunphrey also suggests the referee failed to

correctly analyze the requirenents necessary to sustain a claim
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for msrepresentation. See In re Disciplinary Proceedings

Agai nst Marks, 2003 W 114, {50, 265 Ws. 2d 1, 665 N W2d 836.

154 First, we conclude the referee's factual findings wth
respect to Count One are not <clearly erroneous, wth one
excepti on. We conclude the record evidence before the court
supports Attorney Hunphrey's assertion that he has consistently
mai ntained his affidavit was correct. As such, the court does
not agree wth the referee's finding that Attorney Hunphrey
tacitly "conceded" the statenents in his affidavit violated the
rul es. However, the other factual findings regarding Count One
are supported by the record and are not clearly erroneous.

155 Utimately, the referee was required to nmake a
credibility determnation as to whether Attorney Hunphrey knew
or should have known his statenment that he nmade the photographs
"avail able" to Sommers was a fair and accurate representati on of
matters. Al though there may be technical nerit to Attorney
Hunmphrey's claim the photos were theoretically available to
Somers by other neans, we agree with the referee's conclusion
that Sommers did not have the accident scene photos when
Attorney Hunphrey filed his motion to conpel and Attorney
Hunphrey knew it. We are not persuaded by Attorney Hunphrey's
assertion that the referee was required to analyze each el enent
of a msrepresentation claimin order to find m sconduct here
It is unnecessary to prove the tort of msrepresentation in
order to establish by clear and convincing evidence that an
attorney has violated a rule of professional conduct proscribing
attorney conduct i nvol ving dishonesty, fraud, decei t, or
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m srepresentation. See Marks, 265 Ws. 2d 1, ¢950; 1In re

Di sciplinary Proceedi ngs Against Schal ow, 131 Ws. 2d 1, 12-13,

388 N.W2d 176 (1986).

156 The record indicates both the trial court in the
Rai sbeck matter and the referee in this disciplinary proceeding
were firmy of the opinion that Attorney Hunphrey's statenent
that the photographs had been "available" to the defense for
months constituted m srepresentation within the meaning of the
Rul es of Professional Conduct for Attorneys. We defer to the
referee's credibility determ nations and we accept the referee's
conclusion that Attorney Hunphrey violated SCRs 20:8.4(c) and
20:3.3(a)(1) with respect to paragraph 8 of his affidavit.

157 The second count of the OLR conplaint alleges that, by
failing to disclose he knew where the photos were during the
August 22, 2002 hearing, Attorney Hunphrey knowi ngly nade a
false statement of material fact to a tribunal and engaged in
conduct involving dishonesty, deceit, or m srepresentation.

158 Attorney Hunphrey has nmintained he thought the trial
court was inquiring specifically about the location of the set
of photographs originally in the possession of Deputy Sewell.
This, again, called for a credibility determnation. The
referee concluded Attorney Hunphrey knew or should have known
that the trial court was inquiring generally about an 8 by 10
inch set of photographs at this hearing. Again, we decline to
chall enge the referee's credibility determ nation, and we accept
the referee's conclusion that by claimng he had no know edge of
t he whereabouts of the set of photographs in response to the
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trial court's inquiry, Attorney Hunphrey know ngly made a fal se
statement of material fact to a tribunal in violation of
SCR 20:3.3(a)(1) and engaged in conduct involving dishonesty,
deceit, or msrepresentation in violation of SCR 20:8.4(c).

159 Count Three of the OLR conplaint alleges that, by
failing to turn over to the defense until January 7, 2004, an
Cctober 21, 2003 witness statenent of Kevin MCoy containing
incrimnating declarations, Attorney Hunphrey did, in pretrial
procedure, fail to nmake a reasonably diligent effort to conply
with a valid discovery request by an opposing party.

160 As noted, the referee granted the OLR s notion for
summary judgnment on this claim concluding that Attorney Hunphrey
admtted the factual allegations in the conplaint. Thus, we
must consider whether the admtted factual elenents of the
conplaint, alone, support the legal conclusion that Attorney
Hunmphrey violated SCR 20:3.4(d) by failing to disclose a wtness
statenment conpleted on October 21, 2003, until January 7, 2004.
W hold that it was error for the referee to grant summary
j udgnent on this count.

61 Wsconsin Stat. 8§ 971.23 requires the State to turn
over such a statenment within a "reasonable tinme before trial."
Attorney Hunphrey asserts "[i]t is axiomatic that when an
assistant district attorney conplies with Ws. Stat. 8 971.23 he
cannot have violated SCR 20:3.4(d) which states: "A lawer
shal | not . . . in pretrial procedure, . . . fail to make

reasonably diligent efforts to conply with a legally proper
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di scovery request.'" He notes he had over 500 assigned cases at
the tine of the bel ated discl osure.
162 We do not condone the length of tinme it took Attorney

Hunphrey to disclose an inportant witness statenent to defense

counsel in this case, particularly in view of the manner in
which this prosecution was handl ed. However, we nust concl ude
that the disciplinary conplaint, alone, is not an adequate

factual basis to support the conclusion that Attorney Hunphrey
violated SCR 20:3.4(d). The facts set forth in the conplaint do
not allege when the actual trial occurred, nor do they recite
whet her there was any harmto the Rai sbeck defense occasioned by
the del ay. It is apparent from subm ssions this court has
received from Sommers and remarks nmade by the referee that there
is considerably nore to the story wth respect to this wtness
st at enent . However, this information cannot form the basis of
our ruling because this matter was decided on summary judgment.’
This court will not make factual findings that the referee could

have nmade but did not. See In re D sciplinary Proceedings

Agai nst Wod, 122 Ws. 2d 610, 615-16, 363 N W2d 220 (1985);

see also In re Disciplinary Proceedi ngs Against Swartwout, 116

"In the narrative portion of his report, the referee

mentions that the trial court later sanctioned the State by
prohibiting the State from calling McCoy as a wtness in the
Rai sbeck trial. The referee also nentions that Attorney
Hunphrey was renobved as a prosecutor in the Raisbeck matter
all egedly because of his conduct wth respect to Count Three.
These peripheral findings are not technically part of the record
in this di sciplinary mat t er because At t or ney Hunphr ey
successfully noved to strike this testinony based on the
referee's decision to grant sumary judgnent.
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Ws. 2d 380, 383, 342 N.W2d 406 (1984) (court will not conduct
de novo review of record or independently make factual
findi ngs). Taking, as we nust, the undisputed facts viewed in
the light nost favorable to Attorney Hunphrey, we nust concl ude
that the adm ssions to the facts alleged in the conplaint alone
do not establish a violation SCR 20:3.4(d). W decline to
remand this matter, and we dism ss this charge.

163 We now turn to the appropriate discipline in this
matter. The referee stated he found nmaking a recommendation
wth respect to the appropriate discipline in this mtter
difficult. He acknow edged Attorney Hunphrey's previously
excellent record, but stated, "the fact that he nmay have been
driven to them by over work or his apparent intense dislike of
his opponent is no excuse" and concluded "the least | can
recommend is a public reprinmnd."”

164 The record reflects the OLR considered several cases
in recommending its proposed sanction of a public reprinmand.

See, e.g., Inre Disciplinary Proceedi nhgs Agai nst Teasdal e, 2005

W 12, 278 Ws. 2d 76, 692 N.W2d 244 (failure to respond to a

di scovery request); In re D sciplinary Proceedings Against

Johann, 216 Ws. 2d 118, 574 N W2d 218 (1998) (failing to

appear for deposition); In re D sciplinary Proceedi ngs Agai nst

Brey, 171 Ws. 2d 65, 490 N.wW2d 15 (1992) (60-day suspension).
We have reviewed these and other cases and conclude that under
the facts presented here, a public reprimand is insufficient to

achi eve the objectives of attorney discipline.
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165 We agree with the referee's inplicit observation that
the acrinonious relationship between opposing counsel was |ikely
a contributing factor in Attorney Hunphrey's conduct. However,
the law invests prosecutors with awesone discretionary powers,
particularly over the nature of the charge and the decision
whet her to prosecute. See, e.g., 9 Christine M Wsemn &

M chael Tobin, Crimnal Practice & Procedure 8 6:1 (Wsconsin

Practice Series, 2d ed. 2011). A prosecutor is not a nere
advocate for a particular side in a case. | d. The prosecutor
thus serves as "the trustee of the public's |aw enforcenent

conscience." Thonpson v. State, 61 Ws. 2d 325, 332, 212

N.W2d 109 (1973). Thus, prosecutors nust be ever mndful that
they weld significant authority and nust carefully guard
against the tenptation to |let personal considerations interfere
with their obligation to seek justice.

166 We consider Attorney Hunphrey's ethical violations
sufficiently serious to warrant a suspension of his license to
practice |aw. The question, then, is the appropriate |ength of
t hat suspension. Typically, this court has adhered to a policy
of inposing a mninmum |icense suspension of 60 days. See In re

Di sciplinary Proceedings Against Osicka, 2009 W 38, 138, 317

Ws. 2d 135, 765 N W2d 775; In re Disciplinary Proceedings

Agai nst Grady, 188 Ws. 2d 98, 108-09, 523 N W2d 564 (1994).

167 We have concluded that we wll deviate from our usual
policy of requiring a mninm suspension of 60 days, and we
hereby inpose a 30-day suspension on Attorney Hunphrey's |icense
to practice law in Wsconsin. As we stated in the Sommers case,
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2012 W 33 (No. 2006AP2851-D), this is an unusual case that
calls for an unusual result.

168 We also order that Attorney Hunphrey shall bear the
full costs of this proceeding which total $16,242.59 as of
April 11, 2008.

169 IT IS ORDERED that the license of Paul W Hunphrey to
practice law in Wsconsin is suspended for a period of 30 days,
effective May 7, 2012.

170 IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that Paul W Hunphrey shall
conply with the provisions of SCR 22.26 concerning the duties of
a person whose license to practice law in Wsconsin has been
suspended.

170 IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that within 60 days of the date
of this order, Paul W Hunphrey shall pay to the Ofice of
Lawyer Regulation the costs of this proceeding. |f the costs
are not paid within the tinme specified and Paul W Hunphrey has
not entered into a paynent plan approved by the Ofice of Lawer
Regul ation, then the Ofice of Lawer Regulation is authorized
to nove this court for a further suspension of the |icense of
Paul W Hunphrey to practice law in Wsconsin.

172 ANNETTE KINGSLAND ZIEGLER and M CHAEL J. GABLEVAN

J.J., did not participate.
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173 SH RLEY S.  ABRAHANMSON, C. J. (concurring). The
| awyer discipline system including the work of the Ofice of
Lawer Regulation (OLR), the Prelimnary Review Conmittee, the
referees, and this court, |ike any system has its strengths and
also its opportunities for inprovenent. Reasonabl e people can
and do disagree about the virtues, the snags, and the changes
needed. *

174 But | am disappointed when a justice of this court
unfairly and wongly underm nes the |awer discipline system a
decision of this court, and the actions of the justices joining
the per curiam opinion with unwarranted, unfounded accusations.
I therefore wite in response to Justice Prosser's
concurrence/ di ssent .

175 The concurrence/ di ssent charges that the "handling of
[the Hunphrey] case has been so irregular that it is unfair to
the attorney and seriously underm nes confidence in the |awer
regul ati on system especially the actions of this court.” See
concurrence/ di ssent, {7132, 159.7

176 The concurrence/dissent does not and cannot back up

this harsh charge.

! Indeed the court and the Board of Administrative Oversight
have often examned and reexam ned aspects of the [|awer
di scipline system to inprove it. The chair of the Board of
Adm nistrative Oversight, at ny request, appointed a committee
that reviewed OLR procedures and has offered suggestions for
i mprovenent .

2 "[T]lhe procedures followed in this case, especially the

long delay in this court, are so irregular that they underm ne
confi dence in t he | awyer regul ati on system ™
Concurrence/ di ssent, 9159.
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177 1n spite of the storm and fury and nasty insinuations
about t he court's actions, it turns out t hat t he
concurrence/ di ssent disagrees only with the inposition of a 30-
day suspension. The concurrence/dissent joins the opinion of
the court in concluding that Attorney Hunphrey violated the
Rul es of Professional Conduct tw ce, by msrepresentations to
the trial court.

178 The referee explicitly found that Attorney Hunphrey
deliberately m srepresented nmatters to the trial court: "[ Al ny
reasonable interpretation of the facts [shows] that for whatever
reason [Attorney Hunphrey] deliberately nisled the court."® And
the <court today (including Justice Prosser) affirms the
referee's findings.

179 Wiile attenpting to retry the case and downplay the
two counts against Attorney Hunphrey, |abeling them "semantic

di sputes,"* the concurrence/dissent acknow edges being not
prepared to assert"” that the referee's finding that Attorney
Hunphrey deliberately msled the trial court is "clearly
erroneous. "°

80 The concurrence/ di ssent thus takes issue with the per
curiam opinion only in preferring to inpose a public reprimnd
rather than a 30-day suspension and in seeking to reduce the

costs inposed on Attorney Hunphrey.

3 Per curiam 951. See also per curiam Y58.

4 Concurrence/ di ssent, 9143. See al so concurrence/ di ssent,
M19M144- 154.

5> Concurrence/ di ssent, 7154.

2
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181 Wen you read the concurrence/di ssent and discard the
hyperbol e, inappropriate inferences, and enotional appeal, the
witing amounts to "nothing nore than a disagreenent anong
justices about whether an attorney should receive a public

"6 an issue that the

reprimand or a relatively brief suspension
concurrence/ di ssent wites is worthy of "little" discussion.’

182 Wth the essence of the concurrence/dissent clearly
stated, | turn to inventory the purported "irregularities.”

I

183 The purported "irregularities” recounted in the
concurrence/ di ssent are as follows:

(A) The time elapsing between the beginning of the OLR
proceedi ng and the inposition of discipline (the release of this
deci si on);

(B) The failure to keep the Hunphrey and Sommers discipline
cases separat e;

(C© The change in the menbership in the court during the
pendency of the Hunphrey discipline case;

(D) The dismissal of the third count while not accepting
the lower discipline (public reprimand) recommended by the
referee; and

(E) The failure of the per curiam opinion to pursue a
def ense that Attorney Hunphrey claimed but did not prove.?

184 | will address each in turn.

6 Concurrence/ di ssent, 9132.
7 1d.
8 Concurrence/ di ssent, Y7156.

3
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A

85 The concurrence/ di ssent describes the tine elapsing
bet ween the beginning of the OLR proceeding and the inposition
of discipline as "unseemy."®

186 An abbreviated tine line of the four steps in the
di sciplinary proceedings in the Hunphrey and Sommers cases shows
that the bulk of the tinme that has el apsed in the Hunphrey case
between the challenged conduct and the final decision by this

0

court has been at this court.® So what happened here?

9 Concurrence/ di ssent, 9141.
10 Here is an abbreviated time |ine:

(1) The I ncident

9/ 1/ 01: Adam Rai sbeck's car rolls over.
4/ 21/ 05: Adam Rai sbeck trial; he is acquitted. *

(2) OLR Proceedi ngs

11/ 16/ 06: OLR files Hunphrey conpl aint.**
11/ 17/ 06: OLR files Somers conpl ai nt.

(3) Referee Proceedi ngs

8/ 3/ 07: Hunphrey referee files report and recomrendation
wi th Supreme Court.

10/16/09: Somrers referee files report and recommendation
wi th Supreme Court.

(4) Suprene Court Proceedings

4/ 10/ 08: Hunphrey oral argunent before Suprene Court.

7/ 30/ 08: Supreme Court order holding the Hunphrey case in
abeyance.

11/ 3/10: Sommers oral argunent before Suprenme Court.

4
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187 The two discipline cases, Hunphrey and Sommers, have
their genesis in the sane crimnal prosecution in which Attorney
Hunphrey was the prosecutor and Attorney Somrers was the defense
counsel . It was clear from the very beginning that the conduct
of each attorney affected the conduct of the other. It was
reasonable that the discipline inposed in the two cases shoul d,
at some point, be considered by this court in tandem !

188 Thus, on July 30, 2008, soon after the Hunphrey ora
argunent in this court, the court, on its own notion, issued a
witten order holding Attorney Hunphrey's case in abeyance,
anticipating that the Sommers case would be here soon for ora
ar gurent . 2 No justice dissented from this order. Justice
Prosser belatedly objects today, sone three and one-half years

| ater.!®

3/30/12: Sommers and Hunphrey decisions rel eased by Suprene
Court.

*Odinarily OLR does not investigate or file a conplaint
during the pendency of a court proceeding during which the
i nci dent ari ses.

**Qur goal has been that in nost cases a conplaint be filed
within one year after the investigation begins. W are not
there yet. The tinme, however, of the OLR proceedings in the
present case does not account for the bulk of the time that has
el apsed in this disciplinary proceeding.

1 pPer curiam Y4. Neither the mmjority nor | use the
Referee's Findings and Recommendations of Discipline in the
Sommers case or the record in the Sommers case in deciding the
Hunphr ey case.

2 per curiam 945 n. 6.
13 Concurrence/ di ssent, 9139.

5
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189 Hol ding the Hunphrey nmatter for the Somrers matter was
the sound, sensible thing to do at the time. No one anticipated
that the Somrers case would take three years before it canme here
for oral argunent. Nothing irregular or sinister here. Nothing
to undermne confidence in the Ilawer regulation system
i ncluding the actions of this court.

90 Since the Sommers case cane to this court with ora
argunment on Novenber 3, 2010, it has taken about 16 nonths for
this court to release the Sommers and Hunphrey decisions. This
is too |ong. Decisions in non-discipline cases in which ora
argument was held in Novenber 2010, as was the Somrers case,
were rel eased before the end of July 2011.' W do not have tine
lines for preparing, circulating, and releasing decisions in
discipline cases (as we do for decisions in non-discipline
cases). We shoul d. | shall continue to urge the court to set
reasonable tinme lines for all matters that come to this court.

B

191 The concurrence/di ssent asserts that the court should
have separated the Sommers and Hunphrey cases, but the
concurrence/ di ssent does not tell the full story. The cases
were in fact handl ed separately, even in this court.

192 Each case had its own OLR conplaint; its owm files and
records; its own referee (as a result of Sommers' request for
substitution); its own report by its own referee; its own set of

briefs in this court; and its own oral argunent here. The court

14 Decisions in non-discipline cases in which oral argument
was held between Septenber 1, 2010, and April 30, 2011, were
rel eased before the end of July 2011

6
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deli berated on each case separately. Separate opinions were
witten and considered in each case, but then the court stepped
back to assess the discipline to be inposed on each | awer.

193 Although the concurrence/dissent forcefully argues
that the tw cases be kept separate, as they were, it
si mul t aneously suggests that Attorney Sonmers' request that a
new referee be substituted for the Hunphrey referee who was
originally assigned as referee to the Sommers case was irregul ar
and worked to Hunphrey's di sadvant age. *°

194 A lawer has the right to ask that the naned referee
be substituted. See SCR 22.13(4). This right has been
exercised in other cases. Not hi ng irregular about a substitute
referee here.

195 Indeed the court granted Attorney Sonmers' request
that the referee in the Hunphrey case not be the referee in the
Sommers case, in part so that the two cases woul d be separate.

C

196 The concurrence/ di ssent recounts at |ength the change
in the menbership of the court while the Hunphrey case has been
pendi ng. It is viewed as an "irregularity." That a justice
retires, resigns, is defeated in election, dies, or recuses

hinmself or herself while a case is pending is not unusual or

15 per curiam 14.
6 Concurrence/ di ssent, 9136.

The disciplinary proceeding against Attorney Somers is
being resolved in a separate opinion rel eased today. See In re

Disciplinary Proceedings Against Somers, 2012 W 33,
Ws. 2d __ ,  Nw2a2d __
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irregular.! Only justices who participate in a case fromits
begi nning ordinarily participate in the case through the end. A
justice who declines to participate in a case cannot be forced
to participate.

197 That only five justices participate in a matter before

this court is not an everyday occurrence, but it is not an

irregularity. A five-justice decision, with tw justices not
participating after being given the opportunity to do so, 1is
val i d.

98 Nothing irregular or sinister here. Nothing unfair to
Hunphrey or Sonmmers. Not hing to underm ne confidence in the
| awyer regul ation system including the actions of this court.

199 On Decenber 14, 2009, Attorney Hunphrey requested re-
argunment in this court, urging that the case should be reargued
because of the change in the conposition of the court.!® Al nost
i medi ately thereafter, on January 12, 2010, the court entered a
witten order, wunaninously holding Hunphrey's notion for re-
argunent in abeyance. No justice dissented fromthis order.

7100 Nevertheless, wth the benefit of hindsight, the
concurrence/ di ssent asserts that the court should have granted
Attorney Hunphrey's nmotion for reargunent.'® Yet, noticeably,

t he concurrence/ di ssent does not request reargument even today. %

17 Concurrence/ di ssent, 99137-138.

18 per curiam 945 n. 6.

19 Concurrence/ di ssent, 9140.

20 per curiam 945 n. 6.
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D

1101 The concurrence/ di ssent records, as an "irregularity,"”
that the per curiam opinion dismsses the third count of the
conpl aint agai nst Hunphrey while inposing discipline in excess
of that which the referee recomended. **

1102 The concurrence/ di ssent asserts that it is a
"spectacle"” that the per curiam opinion fails to accept the
referee's recomendation to discipline Attorney Hunphrey with a
public reprimand while dismssing count three. ?

1103 The third count inplicates Attorney Hunphrey in not
timely providing information he was required to give Attorney
Sonmmer s. 3

1104 What the concurrence/dissent does not reveal is that
count three was dism ssed on a procedural ground even though the
count appears to have potential nerit. Mor eover, the remaining
two counts of misrepresentation are nore than sufficient to
support a 30-day suspension.

1105 The per curiam opinion dismsses the third count on
the ground that the referee erred in granting summary judgnment
on this count without holding an evidentiary hearing. The court
could have remanded the third court to the referee to hold an
evidentiary hearing to determne the nerits of this count. A
remand causes delay and would have increased the costs incurred

by Attorney Hunphrey.

2l Concurrence/ di ssent, 7141. See per curiam 9YY59-62.
22 Concurrence/ di ssent, Y7141.
23 See per curiam 9Y31-44, 48, 59-62.

9
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1106 I nstead, the court exercised its discretion to dismss
t he count. The per curiam opinion does not, however, condone
the time it took Attorney Hunphrey to disclose an inportant
Wi tness statement to Attorney Sommers.?*

1107 Dism ssal of count three appears to be advantageous to
At t or ney Hunphrey.

1108 Dism ssal of a count happens with some frequency in
| awyer discipline cases. The referee and the court are doing
their respective jobs in carefully checking that the Ofice of
Lawyer Regulation proves each count. Not hing irregular or
sinister here. Not hing wunfair to Hunphrey. Not hing to
underm ne confidence in the |awer regulation system including
the actions of this court.

1109 The court consi ders careful ly a referee's
recommendation about discipline but nodifies a referee's
recommendation as too light or too harsh with sone frequency.
Both the referee and court are doing their respective jobs: The
referee is to recommend; the court is to decide.

1110 The referee acknowl edged that "making a proper
recommendation in this case [is] difficult."® The referee
recorded favorable comrents about Attorney Hunphrey and his
career and then concluded that Attorney Hunphrey violated the
Rul es of Professional Conduct and that his conduct before the

referee suggested "a deliberate attenpt not to cooperate in an

24 per curiam 962.

25 Referee's Findings of Fact and Recommendation at 8. See
al so per curiam {63.

10
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effort to find the truth. It nust be noted that absolutely no
contrition was expressed by [Attorney Hunphrey]. Wth all this
in mnd the least | [the referee] can recomend is a public
repri mand. "2°

1111 Many referees oversee the numerous discipline cases.
The court's careful review of each referee's recomendation for
di scipline and t he court's car ef ul exerci se of its
responsibility to inpose discipline can bring consistency in
discipline from one |awer discipline case to another. No
"spect acl e" here.

E

1112 The concurrence/dissent criticizes the court for not
pursuing a defense that Attorney Hunphrey clained, nanmely that
the trial court rescinded the statenent that attorney Hunphrey
clearly misled the trial court.? There is no docunentary
evi dence showing a change by the trial court. At Attorney
Hunphrey's deposition he said, "[When he [the trial judge] sort
of backtracked, later on and he took it back, he nade—you know,
says disparaging things." It was Attorney Hunphrey's
obligation, not the referee's or this court's, to pursue
Hunphrey's assertions in his defense and produce evidence to
support the defense.?® Nothing irregular or sinister here.

Not hi ng unfair to Hunphrey. Not hi ng to underm ne confidence in

%6 Referee's Findings of Fact and Reconmendation at 9.
21 Concurrence/ di ssent, Y156.
28 per curiam 923 n.2.

11
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the lawyer regulation system including the actions of this
court.

113 In sum the charge of such "irregularities" that the
procedure used and decision are "unfair to attorney [Hunphrey]
and seriously underm ne[] the <confidence in the |awer
regul ation system especially the actions of this court” is not
proven. None of the purported irregularities holds up under
scrutiny.

1114 | nstead, t he concurrence/ di ssent expresses one
justice's opinion about Attorney Hunphrey's credibility and the
facts. It expresses frustration that, as a matter of |aw, the
concurrence/ di ssent nust defer to the referee's assessnent of
Hunphrey's «credibility and findings of fact, although the
concurrence/ di ssent neverthel ess attenpts to retry credibility.?

115 It turns out that the concurrence/di ssent amounts to
"nothing nore than a disagreenent anong justices about whether
an attorney should receive a public reprimand or a relatively

"30 an issue that the concurrencel/di ssent wites

bri ef suspension,
is worthy of "little" discussion.?3!
116 | turn to the issue of discipline.

2 The referee heard the testinony, saw the wi tnesses, and
gauged their credibility. A reviewing court nust defer to the
factual findings and the credibility determ nation of the trier
of facts because the trier is in a better position than is a
reviewing court to determne the facts and weigh the credibility
of a w tness.

30 Concurrence/ di ssent, 7132.
31 4.

12
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1117 The 30-day suspension is "unprecedented,"” proclains
t he concurrence/ di ssent. 32
1118 A 30-day suspension is "unprecedented” only in the

sense that in recent years, unlike in years past, the mninmm

suspension the court ordinarily inposes is 60 days. In the
present case the court, |like the referee, struggled mghtily on
the question of discipline. The court decided a public

reprimand was too light and a 60-day suspension too severe. The
court's inmposing an "unprecedented" 30-day suspension probably
has worked in Attorney Hunphrey's favor.

1119 In spite of the storm and fury and nasty insinuations
about the court's actions, when all is said and done, it turns
out that the concurrence/dissent disagrees nmerely wth the
imposition of a 30-day suspension. Yet, at the same tinme the
concurrence/ di ssent concludes that the decision whether to
i npose a public reprimand or a suspension is an issue worthy of

“little" discussion.?3s

1120 Here agai n, I nmust di sagree W th t he
concurrence/ di ssent. | think the discipline to be inposed is
worthy of a lot of discussion and very careful thought. The

nature of the discipline has significant consequences. There is

a big difference to the disciplined attorney, to the public, to

32 Concurrence/ di ssent, 7141.
33 1d., f132.

13



No. 2006AP2842-D. ssa

the bench, and to the bar between a public reprimnd and a
suspensi on of any |ength.3

121 The court is concerned about the effect of discipline
cases on the litigants involved, on the bar, on the bench, on
the public, and on the public's trust and confidence in the
legal and judicial system For these reasons, the court
struggles to inpose what it views as the appropriate discipline
in each case and tries especially hard to reach unani nous
deci sions in discipline cases.

122 The concurrence/ di ssent invei ghs against inposing ful
costs of the proceeding against Attorney Hunphrey.3 The court
carefully considers costs in each case and is fully cogni zant of
the effect of the inposition of all or a portion of the costs on
the attorney charged or on all the attorneys of the state who
foot the bill for the lawer discipline system?3® The
concurrence/ di ssent protests about costs but does not say what
costs it woul d inpose.

1123 What discipline should the court inpose on a |awer
who violates the Rules of Professional Conduct in representing

the State in a crinmnal case?

3 See SCR 22.26. A lawer's activities are severely
curtailed on a suspension. A lawer who is suspended has to
notify clients and courts of the suspension and nake al
arrangenents for the tenporary or permanent closing or w nding
up of the attorney's practice.

35 Concurrence/ di ssent, 7142.

3 See SCR 22.24 (governing costs). See Justice Prosser's
concurrence/ di ssent and ny concurrence discussing inposition of
costs in discipline cases in In re Disciplinary Proceedings
Agai nst Konnor, 2005 W 37, 279 Ws. 2d 284, 694 N. W2d 376.

14
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1124 The case: Adam Rai sbeck, a 17-year-old driver, was in
a single-car roll-over accident. One passenger was Kkilled.
Anot her was i njured. No drugs or alcohol were involved. In
essence, the |egal question was whether Adam Rai sheck would be
held crimnally liable for driving too fast.

1125 Attorney Hunphrey is a long-tine experienced assistant
district attorney. What explains his conduct? The
concurrence/ di ssent rumnates, "it is difficult . . . to imagine
what woul d have notivated an experienced prosecutor to pronptly
turn over 84 pages of discovery material to the defendant but
later insist to a circuit judge that he also turned over or
actually supplied accident scene photographs in March when he
obvi ously did not."?

1126 The referee in the Hunphrey discipline proceeding
answers: "Sommers and Hunphrey apparently had a prior
unpl easant history and it appears that Hunphrey determ ned not
to be any nore cooperative wth Somers than absolutely

n 38

necessary. Attorney Hunmphrey "may have been driven . . . by

over work or his apparent intense dislike of his opponent."3°
1127 The justices have struggled mghtily, perhaps too
mghtily, and for far too long, to decide the nerits of the

charge and the appropriate discipline. The discipline had to

37 Concurrence/ di ssent, 7152.

%8 Referee's Findings of Fact and Recommendation, Finding of
Fact 3.

3% Referee's Findings of Fact and Recommendation at 8. See
al so per curiam {63.
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fit the offense, considering the attorney's conduct and the
mtigating and aggravating circunmstances, and considering the
effect on the bar, the bench, and the public, and trying to
ensure fair, effective judicial and |legal proceedings that
produce fair, just results.

1128 Each |awer discipline case, including the Hunphrey
and Sommers matters, presents a sad and difficult story about
| awyers and clients. The Ofice of Lawer Regulation, the
Prelimnary Review Committee, the referees, and the court
understand this and take their respective roles very seriously—
as they shoul d.

1129 The | awyer discipline system |ike any system has its
strong and weak spots, and aspects of the system can be
commended and criticized. The handling of any particular case
i ncluding the Hunphrey case, is also subject to both approbation
and di sapproval .

1130 There is no question that the case took too |ong. But
the handling of the Hunphrey discipline case was not
“irregular,” in the sense that the concurrence/dissent clains,
so as to be "unfair to the Attorney [Hunphrey] and seriously
undermne the confidence in the |awer regulation system
especially the actions of this court.” No such charge should be
made in the present case to attack the integrity of the |awer
regul ation system or the justices joining the per curiam
opi ni on.

1131 For the reasons set forth, | join the per curiam and

wite separately.
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1132 DAVID T. PRCOSSER, J. (concurring in part, dissenting
in part). | respectfully dissent from the |evel of discipline
i nposed by the court. If this case involved nothing nore than a
di sagreenent anong justices about whether an attorney should
receive a public reprimand or a relatively brief suspension,
there would be little to discuss. But the case involves nuch
nor e. In my view, the handling of this case has been so
irregular that it is wunfair to the attorney and seriously
underm nes confidence in the |awer regul ation system
especially the actions of this court.

1133 The Ofice of Lawer Regulation (OLR) filed three
counts of professional msconduct against Attorney Paul W
Hunphrey in Novenber 2006. The three counts all relate to
Attorney Hunphrey's conduct as a Dane County Assistant District
Attorney in the State's prosecution of Adam Raisbeck for a

traffic homcide. The three counts read as foll ows:

1. By averring in an affidavit filed with Judge
[ Paul ] Higgi nbotham on May 22, 2002, "That over two

nmonths ago, the State . . . nade the photographs
available to the defendant”™ and by continuing to
mai nt ai n t hat factual position before Judge

Hi ggi nbot ham during a hearing held on June 7, 2002,
when in fact he knew that he had infornmed the defense
how to obtain the accident scene photographs |ess than
one nmonth prior, and that the defense did not actually
have the photographs as of the norning prior to My
22, 2002, Hunphrey engaged in conduct involving
di shonesty, fraud, deceit or msrepresentation, in
viol ation of SCR 20:8.4(c).

2. By indicating to Judge Hi ggi nbotham during a
heari ng held on August 22, 2002, that he did not know
where the State's accident scene photos were, and by
failing to affirmatively di scl ose i nformation

1
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concerning the location of the State's photos, when in
fact he possessed a conplete set of the photos at the
time of the hearing, Hunphrey knowi ngly nade a false
statenent of fact to a tribunal in violation of SCR
20:3.3(a) (1), and engaged in conduct i nvol vi ng
di shonesty, fraud, deceit or msrepresentation, in
viol ation of SCR 20:8.4(c).

3. By failing to turn over to the defense unti
January 7, 2004, an Cctober 21, 2003, witness
statenment concerning incrimnating declarations that
the defendant allegedly nmade to Wtness [Kevin] MCoy
followi ng the accident, despite having been served on
March 12, 2002, with a valid defense discovery request
for "a witten summary of all oral statenments of the
def endant which the State plans to use in the course
of the trial and the nanmes of wtnesses to the
defendant's oral statenents, " Hunphrey did, in
pretrial procedure, fail to make a reasonably diligent
effort to conply with a legally proper discovery
request by an opposing party, in violation of SCR
20: 3. 4(d) .

1134 At first, the prosecution of Attorney Hunphrey
proceeded normally. Ref eree Russell Hanson was appointed to
hear the case. Referee Hanson entered sunmary judgnment on Count
Three on June 25, 2007. He denied Hunphrey's notion for
reconsi deration on July 10, then heard two days of evidence. He
issued his decision on August 2, 2007 (less than a year after
the case was filed), finding that OLR had net its burden on al
three counts and recommending that Attorney Hunphrey receive a
public reprimand. This was the sane |evel of discipline sought
by the OLR

135 Hunphrey appeal ed, and this court heard oral argunent
in his case on April 10, 2008.

1136 These facts tell only part of the story. At t or ney
Hunphrey's case has been linked to matters involving Attorney

Joseph Sommers from the beginning of the Raisbeck prosecution,

2
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including COLR s subsequent disciplinary proceedings against
Attorney Sommers. In virtually every respect, this |inkage has
worked to Attorney Hunphrey's detrinent. Attorney Sommers
testified against Attorney Hunphrey at Hunphrey's evidentiary
hearing, and then, after Referee Hanson issued a decision in the
Hunphrey matter, Attorney Somrers succeeded in renoving Referee
Hanson from Sommers' own case.

1137 When Attorney Hunphrey's case was argued on April 10
2008, Justice Annette Kingsland Ziegler did not participate.
She did not participate because Attorney Sonmers had been a
candi date for the suprenme court against Justice Ziegler in 2007.
Justice Ziegler apparently decided that if she should not sit in
the Sommers case, she should not sit in the Hunphrey case
either. This reduced the size of Hunphrey's court from seven to
Si X.

1138 Justice Louis Butler did sit in the Hunphrey case, but
when this court decided to hold the rel ease of any decision on
Attorney Hunphrey until reaching a decision on Attorney Sonmers,
it effectively knocked the departing Justice Butler off the case
and reduced the size of the court to five.

1139 The decision to hold Attorney Hunphrey's case in
abeyance had another unfortunate effect: Attorney Hunphrey was
left twisting in the wind for three and one-half years while
this court struggled to resolve the intractable Somrers nmatter.

1140 Attorney Hunphrey played no part in this delay. He
sinply paid the price for it. The court should have separated

the two cases and granted Hunphrey's notion for reargunent.
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1141 Beyond the unseemy delay and its adverse effect on
Attorney Hunphrey, this court has created the spectacle of
invalidating one of the three counts against Attorney Hunphrey
but nonet hel ess increasing his discipline froma proposed public
reprimand to an unprecedented 30-day suspension (in a case not
i nvol ving reciprocal discipline). See SCR 22.22(3).

142 In addition, Attorney Hunphrey is required to pay the
full costs of the prosecution against him including OLR s costs
in this appeal, even though OLR did not seek increased
di sci pline on appeal and even though OLR lost one of its three
counts. The result in this court will send a chilling nessage
to attorneys in discipline cases who may w sh to defend their
position on appeal .

1143 But there is nore. The two remaining counts, 1 and 2,
involve semantic disputes about what Attorney Hunphrey neant
when he nade certain representations to the circuit court.

1144 There is no dispute that Attorney Sonmers sought
acci dent scene photographs from the State in the Rai sbeck case
Hi s subpoena for these photographs was quashed by the circuit
court on grounds that "discovery" of the photographs before the
arrai gnment was premature. After the arraignnent, the defense
was entitled to see the photographs and to acquire its own set.

1145 It does not follow, however, that the State was
required to give the defense its own set of 8 by 10 phot ographs.
The referee nade no such finding and the majority opinion does

not assert that that is a requirenment of the | aw
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1146 This case would be sinple if Attorney Hunphrey sonmehow
prevented Attorney Sommers from seeing or acquiring a conplete
set of accident scene photographs, but that is not the issue.

1147 The facts supporting Count 1 are set out in 17-22 of
the majority opinion. On April 25, 2002, Attorney Hunphrey sent

a letter to Attorney Sommers that said:

You had requested the photographs taken in this

case. As | nentioned, | had |oaned them out for a
Crash Reconstruction analyst to look at in the course
of their investigation. There are several ways for
you to access the photographs. If you are wlling to
stipulate to their foundation, and agree to return
themwithin a reasonable tinme, | can send themto you.

If you want your own copies, you are welcone to
contact the [DCSOQ [Dane County Sheriff's Ofice] and
order them They will then print them up and have a
bill ready for you to pay when they are picked up. |If
you just want to |look at them then call ne up and set
up a tine to cone in to ny office and ook at them |
wi |l have them avail able at the front desk.

1148 On May 2 Hunphrey sent Sommers a second letter that

sai d:

At your recent request for your own copies of all

the photos, | contacted the Court Oficer of the DCSO.
Here's what you need to do. Call Lt. Baglam
at . . . and request the photos. You will need the
Agency Case Nunber which is 01-53163. They wll

apparently nake the copies and have them ready to pick
up upon paynent of the invoice.

1149 Both of these letters allude to the established
procedure for a defendant to obtain his own set of case-related
phot ogr aphs after arrai gnment . The majority opi ni on

acknow edges Attorney Hunphrey's reliance on this procedure:

Attorney Hunphrey asserts the wusual procedure for
defense <counsel to obtain a set of crinme scene
photographs is for the defense attorney to wite a
letter to t he district att or ney requesting

5
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authorization for the sheriff's departnent, as the
custodian of the negatives, to release a set of
phot ographs to the defense.

Attorney Hunphrey maintains Sonmers was fully aware of
the typical protocol for obtaining accident scene
photos. Attorney Hunphrey includes in his subm ssions
a formletter that is often used by defense counsel to
make such requests.

Majority op., 1910, 19.

1150 Attorney Hunphrey filed an affidavit with the circuit
court on May 22, 2002, which stated in part: "That over two
months ago, the State provided over 84 pages of discovery

materials, nmade the photographs available to the defendant, and

provi ded the scale diagram"™ (Enphasis added.)

151 The circuit court and the referee both read the phrase
"made the photographs available to the defendant” as neaning
that the State gave the defendant the photographs, which
Hunphrey did not do. They rejected an alternative
interpretation of the phrase, that a set of photographs was
accessible to the defendant after the arraignnent in Mirch, if
and when Attorney Sommers sought the photographs by wutilizing
t he established protocol.

1152 It is difficult for this witer to inmagine what would
have notivated an experienced prosecutor to pronptly turn over
84 pages of discovery material to the defendant but |ater insist
to a circuit judge that he also turned over or actually supplied
acci dent scene photographs in March when he obviously did not.

It is much easier to accept that Attorney Hunphrey's statenents
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were neant to convey a different proposition. O course, the
referee deci ded ot herw se.

1153 The court is constrained by a very rigorous standard
of review with respect to the facts found by a referee in an
attorney discipline case. | wrote about this standard severa

years ago:

| respect and appreciate the work of the court's
appointed referees in the Lawer Regulation System
Their findings of fact are entitled to great deference
and should not be disturbed unless they are clearly
erroneous. For the <court to adopt a different
standard of review would plunge us into a fact-finding
role to which we are not well suited.

Because it is inportant to honor the standard of

review, | concur in the decision of the court. I
wite separately, however, to enphasize that if | had
a free hand, | would decide the case differently.

O.R v. Paget, 2003 W 26, 1919-20, 260 Ws. 2d 604, 660

N. W2d 255 (Prosser, J., concurring).

154 | concur here as well, with deep reservations, because
| am not prepared to assert that the referee's "facts" are
clearly erroneous.

155 It should be noted, however, that other attorneys in
the district attorney's office supported Attorney Hunphrey's
expl anation and position. For exanple, then-Deputy District
Attorney Judy Schwaem e testified at Hunphrey's hearing that "it
is the policy of the Dane County DA's office . . . to nmake
phot ographs available to defense counsel inmmediately after
arraignment."” (Enphasi s added.)

1156 The nmgjority could have renoved ny reservations about

Count One and eviscerated Attorney Hunphrey in the process by

7
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denolishing his contention "that the referee's report fails to
note the district attorney later asked the trial court to
rescind this statenent [that Attorney Hunphrey 'clearly msled
the court on that issue']" and, nore inportant, that "the tria
court agreed.” See mgjority op., 923 If the circuit court
actually changed its evaluation of Attorney  Hunphrey's
representations, the validity of Count One would be underm ned.
The nmajority appears determned not to pursue such a tough
guesti on.

1157 The reservations | have about Count One also apply to
Count Two. Wiy would Attorney Hunphrey assert, suggest, or
inmply that he did not have a set of accident scene photographs
in his office when he had previously adnmtted otherwise in
witing (see Y147, supra), when he brought two photos with him
to court, and when he had already been severely criticized by
the circuit court over his handling of the photographs? | don't
think he did. More plausible to the witer is that Attorney
Hunphrey was speaking about Deputy Sewell's set of accident
scene photographs, not his own set. Again, the referee decided
ot herwi se.

1158 The mjority is not only confortable wth these
determ nati ons, but also wlling to create unprecedented
discipline to deal with them

1159 1 believe a suspension of Attorney Hunphrey is
unwarranted and unfair and that the procedures followed in this
case, especially the long delay in this court, are so irregular

that they undermine confidence in the |awer regulation system
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Thus, with respect to the sanction, | respectfully but strongly

di ssent.
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